Case No. S258019

SUPREME COURT FILED

JAN 27 2020

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

In the Supreme Court of the

Deputy

State of California

KWANG K. SHEEN, Plaintiff and Appellant

WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A., et al.

Defendant and Respondent

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION EIGHT, CASE NO. B289003 SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES CASE No. BC631510 THE HONORABLE JUDGE ROBERT L. HESS

# Petitioner's Opening Brief on the Merits

Noah Grynberg State Bar No. 296080 Los Angeles Center for Community Law and Action 1137 North Westmoreland Avenue, #16 Los Angeles, CA 90029

Telephone: (310) 866-7527

Email: noah.grvnberg@laccla.org

#### ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does a mortgage servicer owe a borrower a duty of care to refrain from making material misrepresentations about the status of a foreclosure sale following the borrower's submission of, and the servicer's agreement to review, an application to modify a mortgage loan?

## INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff-Petitioner Kwang K. Sheen purchased his home with a loan from Wells Fargo ("Wells") in 1998. At the height of the 2008-09 financial crisis, Sheen fell into serious financial difficulties. Behind in his loan payments, he asked Wells if he could modify his loan in order to prevent foreclosure of his home.

Wells accepted Sheen's loan modification application and promised him that he and his wife would *never* lose their house following Sheen's submission of the application. Based on various representations made by Wells, Sheen assumed that the application had been granted and that his home was permanently saved from foreclosure.

Wells then sold Sheen's loan to a third party knowing that the third party might one day sell Sheen's house at foreclosure. The loan was sold several more times, all unbeknownst to Sheen. Eventually, the newest owner of the loan did indeed foreclose, evicting Sheen and his wife, and leaving them homeless.

Loan servicers have become notorious for this type of deception and obfuscation. Particularly troubling is a practice known as "dual tracking," which has now been prohibited in the State of California. (See California Homeowner Bill of Rights, Cal. Civ. Code §§ 2923.6, 2924.18 [HBOR].)

Dual tracking is when a mortgage servicer proceeds with the foreclosure process while simultaneously considering the borrower's application for a loan modification or other foreclosure avoidance option. (See Alvarez v. BAC Home Loans Servicing, L.P. (2014) 228 Cal.App.4th 941, 950.) This practice lulls borrowers who are behind on their mortgage payments into a false sense of security: the loan servicer accepts a loan modification application and often, as here, makes explicit assurances that the borrower can keep their home, only to turn around and foreclose on the home after all. (See id.)

That is akin to what happened to Sheen and his wife. Suddenly homeless, they sued Wells for negligence and other claims. The trial court sustained Wells' demurrer, reasoning (in part) that Wells did not owe Sheen a duty in *tort* for acts that occurred during *contract* negotiations, even though Sheen did not have any contractual remedy against Wells.

This decision left Sheen without any remedy at all. Wells never breached any underlying contractual obligation to Sheen, so Sheen had no contract claim. Instead, because Wells "merely" engaged in negligent and misleading actions with regard to

Sheen's application to modify his loan, the trial court held that Sheen could not sue Wells at all.<sup>1</sup>

The Court of Appeal affirmed the demurrer in a decision that, if upheld, would have far-reaching and devastating consequences for borrowers like Sheen who are preyed upon by negligent loan servicers—and for victims of negligence in California more broadly.

The Court of Appeal recognized, correctly, that the governing test for evaluating a duty of care in the mortgage modification context stems from *Biakanja v. Irving* (1958) 49 Cal.2d 647. And the Court acknowledged that several California Courts of Appeal have found that the *Biakanja* factors squarely counsel in favor of recognizing a duty of care in the context of loan modification negotiations. (See, e.g., Alvarez, 228 Cal.App.4th at 948; Daniels v. Select Portfolio Servicing (2016) 246 Cal.App.4th 1150, 1180-1183.)

But the Court held, incorrectly, that the *Biakanja* factors are trumped by the economic loss rule, based on this Court's recent decision in *Southern California Gas Cases* (2019) 7 Cal.5th 391 ("*SoCalGas*"), which disallowed tort claims filed by businesses that suffer purely economic losses from an environmental catastrophe caused by a defendant's negligence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Sheen does not have a remedy under HBOR because that law only grants a private right of action with regard to first-lien mortgages, and Sheen's mortgage from Wells was a second-lien mortgage. (See Cal. Civ. Code § 2924.18.)

That was error. What the Court of Appeal failed to recognize is that SoCalGas reaffirmed that the Biakanja factors supply the appropriate test for determining whether to recognize a tort duty of care for purely economic losses. Nothing in that decision suggests that the economic loss rule should bar tort claims in a lawsuit between contracting parties, where—as here—there is a "special relationship" between them that meets all the Biakanja factors.

The Court of Appeal's reliance on *SoCalGas* transforms the economic loss rule—a rule that is supposed to be about protecting the sanctity of *contract*—into a shield for tortfeasors like Wells, who hurt borrowers with their negligence and then seek immunity by hiding behind underlying loan contracts.

This Court should reject this unlawful and unfair result.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

## A. The Mortgage Servicing Landscape.

Traditional mortgage lending involved a bank evaluating a borrower and her security, and issuing a loan with terms reflecting the perceived risk that the borrower would default. The same bank would then: (i) retain the loan, making its profit on interest the borrower paid; and (ii) service the loan by maintaining direct contact with the borrower, collecting her payments and negotiating any changes to the loan. (See Eamonn K. Moran, Wall Street Meets Main Street: Understanding the Financial Crisis (2009), 13 N.C. Banking Inst. 5, 32 (2009) ["Traditionally, banks managed loans 'from cradle to grave' as they made mortgage loans and retained the risk of default, called

credit risk, and profited as they were paid back."] [citation omitted].)

In the modern mortgage servicing context, however, these tasks have been dispersed among different actors, changing the relationships between the borrower, the loan originator, the ultimate holder of the loan, and the servicer of the loan.

First, borrowers are captive. They cannot choose who will service their loan, and they often are not even informed when the loan originator has contracted out for the servicing of the loan, or has sold the loan itself to a different investor. Moreover, each individual borrower has virtually no bargaining power against institutional lenders and servicers.

In the absence of any constraint, servicers may actually have incentives to misinform and under-inform borrowers.

Providing limited and low-quality information not only allows servicers to save money but increases the chances they will collect late fees and other penalties from confused borrowers.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> (See Kurt Eggert, Limiting Abuse and Opportunism by Mortgage Servicers (2004) 15 Hous. Pol'y Debate 753, 769-770]; see also Adam J. Levitin & Tara Twomey, Mortgage Servicing, 28 Yale J. on Reg. 1, 25-29 (2011) [discussing why servicers prefer highly automated default management]; cf. Burch v. Sup. Ct. (2014) 223 Cal. App. 4th 1411, 1421 [fact that the injured plaintiff has no ability to "control and adjust the risks by contract" weighs in favor of duty].)

Servicers' dramatic failure to invest in personnel, infrastructure, and technology has led to a focus on problems of "dual-tracking" and "single point of contact." (See, e.g., 2012 Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act [Regulation X] Mortgage Servicing Proposal (Sept. 17, 2012), 77 Fed. Reg. 57,200, 57,200 (Sept. 17, 2012) [("As millions of borrowers fell behind on their loans . . . [m]any servicers simply had not made the investments in resources and infrastructure necessary to service large numbers of delinquent loans."]); Cal. Civ. Code § 2923.6 [prohibiting "dual-tracking"].)

Borrowers experience this failure to invest as an inability to talk to anyone at their (unchosen) servicer, constant, repeated requests for the same documents "lost" by servicers, improper denial of loan modifications, and foreclosures despite pending loan modification applications. (See Paul Kiel, Homeowners Say Banks Not Following Rules for Loan Modifications, ProPublica, Jan. 14, 2010, 9:00am ["Like many borrowers in the program, [Reynolds] says he was asked over and over to send the same documents and later, updated versions of those documents. Finally, in late November, he received an answer: He was denied a permanent loan modification."].)

At best, borrowers are discouraged by these time and energy-wasting problems. At worst, borrowers are denied help or misled about the status of a foreclosure sale, and can unnecessarily lose their homes.

For homeowners, the stakes of servicer failures are extremely high. Homeowners facing foreclosure and applying for

modification are absolutely dependent upon their mortgage servicers to process their requests in a timely, accurate fashion.

During the modification process, the homeowner has to rely entirely on information from the servicer both about whether the loan is likely to be modified, and on the status of the modification, to make life-changing decisions such as whether to file for bankruptcy, sell the home, or give up the home through foreclosure or deed in lieu of foreclosure. But servicers often fail to provide such necessary information.<sup>3</sup>

The potential harm to the homeowner flowing from this disparity in bargaining power is greatest in the loan modification process, where a servicer's improper or erroneous denial of loan modification can end in unnecessary foreclosure. Even delay can be harmful; over the course of the modification process, which can take months or even years, the homeowner may be falling further and further behind on the mortgage (or, alternately, using up savings on a home that is no longer affordable).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See Lydia Nussbaum, ADR's Place in Foreclosure: Remedying the Flaws of a Securitized Housing Market, 34 Cardozo L. Rev. 1889, 1901 (2013) (stating that the servicing industry is "notorious for its lack of customer service"); Christopher L. Peterson, Predatory Structured Finance (2007) 28 Cardozo L. Rev. 2185, 2265 ["Phone calls to the loan's servicer are frequently ignored, subject to excruciating delays, and typically can only reach unknowledgeable staff who themselves lack information on the larger business relationships."].)

Because modern mortgage servicing has become divorced from loan ownership, servicers have incentives to charge borrowers unnecessary fees and to extend default. These incentives shifted in part as a result of mortgage loan securitization, which increasingly unmoored banks from the fate of the mortgages they created, invested in, and serviced. (Susan E. Hauser, *Predatory Lending, Passive Judicial Activism, and the Duty to Decide*, 86 N.C. L. Rev. 1501, 1517 (2008) ["Today, there is no longer one 'lender' who faces the full panoply of risks associated with the making of a mortgage loan."].)

After origination, the servicer only has a financial incentive to collect its servicing fee. This servicing fee does not depend on loan performance, nor on maximizing net present value through a modification. (See Steven L. Schwarcz, The Future of Securitization (2009) 41 Conn. L. Rev 1313, 1322-1323; Diane Thompson, Foreclosing Modifications: How Servicer Incentives Discourage Loan Modifications (2011) 86 Wash. L. Rev. 755, 767-768 [explaining servicer fee structure].) Thus, loan servicing looks even less like traditional lending activity than originating-to-securitize loans.

# B. Statutory Responses to the Mortgage Crisis.

In an attempt to address the modern mortgage servicing industry's failures, legislators and other regulators have responded with increasingly specific rules governing loan servicing and loss mitigation. These responses have sought to identify and prohibit the most harmful servicer conduct, and to create procedures that correct for the gross power disparity

between borrower and lender, in keeping with the strong public policy of avoiding foreclosure where possible.

At the federal level, the government created the Home Affordable Modification Program (HAMP) to help borrowers avoid foreclosure. Rather than create a private right of action, Congress intended that HAMP rules (promulgated by the Treasury Department) be enforced under state common law and general consumer protection statutes as an industry-wide standard of care: 15 U.S.C. § 1639a(c) provides that "[t]he qualified loss mitigation plan guidelines issued by the Secretary of the Treasury . . . shall constitute standard industry practice for purposes of all Federal and State laws."

In California, HBOR sets out stringent procedural protections for borrowers seeking modifications or other loss mitigation options. Civil Code section 2923.6 prohibits "dual tracking"—the servicer practice of proceeding to foreclosure even while the borrower is still being considered for loss mitigation options. Civil Code section 2924.12 provides a private right of action and damages for dual tracking violations. Crucially, however, Section 2924.12 only creates a private right of action for first-lien mortgages, not second-lien mortgages like Sheen's. (See Cal. Civ. Code § 2924.18.)

Moreover, HBOR expressly states that it does not preclude any other common law causes of action. (See Cal. Civ. Code § 2924.12(g) ["The rights, remedies, and procedures provided by this section are in addition to and independent of any other rights, remedies, or procedures under any other law. Nothing in

this section shall be construed to alter, limit, or negate any other rights, remedies, or procedures provided by law."].)

## C. Underlying Facts.

Kwang Sheen is a Korean American who speaks almost no English. (3 Clerk's Transcript (CT) 488 ¶ 17). He and his wife lost their home to foreclosure in October 2014. (3 CT 496 ¶ 49.)

In November 2005, Sheen obtained second- and third-lien residential mortgage loans (the "Second Loan" and "Third Loan", respectively) from Wells (3 CT 487 ¶¶ 7–8.) These loans were secured by his property. (3 CT 487-488 ¶¶ 7–8.)

Sheen experienced tremendous financial difficulty in late 2008 and, in 2009, missed a number of payments due on the Second and Third Loans. (3 CT 488 ¶ 9.) Wells recorded a Notice of Default and Election to Sell Under Deed of Trust (the "Notice of Default") in September 2009, ostensibly in connection with the Second Loan. (3 CT 488 ¶ 9.)

On December 14, 2009, Wells recorded a Notice of Trustee's Sale, again ostensibly in connection with the Second Loan. (3 CT 488 ¶ 10.) The Notice of Trustee's Sale stated that the Property would be sold at auction on January 4, 2010. (3 CT 488 ¶ 10.) In or about the last week of December 2009, Wells caused the January 4 foreclosure sale of the Property to be postponed to February 3, 2010. (3 CT 488 ¶ 10.)

In late January 2010, Sheen and his legal representatives contacted Wells by email regarding the possibility of cancelling the foreclosure sale scheduled for February 3, 2010 so that Sheen

could apply and be considered for modifications of the Second and Third Loans. (3 CT 488  $\P$  11.)

A Wells representative replied that Wells' Loss Mitigation department "is currently working on this matter." (3 CT 488 ¶ 11.) At the same time, Sheen submitted applications for modification of the Second and Third Loans. (3 CT 488 ¶ 12.) Then, in or about the first week of February 2010, Wells cancelled all foreclosure proceedings that had previously been initiated in connection with the Second Loan, which Wells and Sheen's representatives had previously discussed so that Sheen's loan modification application could be considered and which therefore caused Sheen to believe that Wells had agreed to review his application. (3 CT 488 ¶ 13.) On the date the sale was cancelled, Wells had already accepted Sheen's applications for review. (3 CT 488 ¶ 13 [stating that the applications were "pending"].)

On or about March 17, 2010, Wells sent Sheen two separate letters in connection with the Second and Third Loans, respectively. (3 CT 488  $\P$  15.) The first letter addressed Sheen as follows, in part:

Due to the severe delinquency of your account, it has been charged off and the entire balance has been accelerated. Accordingly, your entire balance is now due and owing. In addition, we have reported your account as charged off to the credit reporting agencies to which we report. As a result of your account's charged off status, we will proceed with whatever action is deemed necessary to protect our interests. This may include, if applicable, placing your account with an outside collection agency or referring your account to an Attorney with instructions to take whatever action is

necessary to collect this account. Please be advised that if Wells Fargo elects to pursue a legal judgment against you and is successful, the amount of the judgment may be further increased by court costs and attorney fees.

## (3 CT 488 ¶ 15.)

The letter stated that the date of the "charge-off" was February 25, 2010. (3 CT 488  $\P$  15.) The second letter was almost identical to the first. (3 CT 488  $\P$  16.)

Sheen received these letters less than two months after he had submitted applications for modification of the Second and Third Loans, and while he was still waiting for a response to those applications. (3 CT 488 ¶ 18.) He therefore believed that Wells sent the March 17, 2010 letters in response to his pending applications for mortgage modification. (3 CT 488 ¶ 19.) He believed that the letters meant that the Second and Third Loans had been modified such that they were unsecured loans, that Wells had cancelled the February 3, 2010 foreclosure sale as a result of its plan to modify the Second and Third Loans, and that the Property would never be sold at a foreclosure auction as a result of these modifications. (3 CT 488 ¶ 19.)

In or about March 2010, Wells also contacted Sheen by phone. (3 CT 488 ¶ 22.) Sheen's wife Jong-Sin Sheen answered the call. During the call, a Wells representative told her that there would be no more foreclosure sale of their home. (3 CT 488 ¶ 22.)

About a month later, Sheen received a letter from Wells dated April 23, 2010. (3 CT 488 ¶ 23.) The letter referred to the

Second Loan and to a "Date of Charge-Off" of February 24, 2010 in the subject line above the body of the letter. (3 CT 488  $\P$  23.) The letter then stated:

In an effort to resolve your charged-off account, Wells Fargo recently attempted to contact you to discuss the repayment of your debt with one of our multiple payment options. Unfortunately, we have been either unable to reach you or unable to obtain an acceptable payment arrangement on your account.

. . .

Unless we receive a phone call from you within 15 days of this offer, we may take advantage of all remedies available to us to recover our balance in full, which may include outsourcing your account to a collection agency or referring your account to an attorney with instructions to take whatever action deemed necessary to collect this account.

## (3 CT 488 ¶ 23.)

The April 23, 2010 letter further confirmed Sheen's understanding that the Second Loan had been modified such that it was now unsecured. (3 CT 488 ¶ 24.) Sheen interpreted the letter as a standard collections letter a consumer would receive in connection with an unsecured, unpaid debt, in particular because the letter made no direct mention of a possible foreclosure sale and instead referred directly to the intervention of a collection agency in connection with the Second Loan. (3 CT 488 ¶ 24.)

On November 22, 2010, Wells assigned the servicing rights to the Second Loan to Dove Creek. (3 CT 488 ¶ 28.) On November 24, 2010, Wells also assigned its beneficial interest under the

deed of trust securing the Second Loan to Dove Creek. (3 CT 488 ¶ 28.)

After a series of subsequent assignments, the beneficial interest in the Second Loan was assigned to Mirabella Investments Group, LLC ("Mirabella"). (3 CT 488 ¶¶ 29-31.) In April 2014, Mirabella recorded a Notice of Default stating that the Second Loan was in default. (3 CT 488 ¶ 31.) Next, in July 2014, Mirabella recorded a Notice of Trustee's Sale stating that the Property would be sold at a public auction on August 22, 2014. (3 CT 488 ¶ 32.) Also in or about July 2014, Sheen received a letter from Mirabella stating that the Second Loan was in default. (3 CT 488 ¶ 33.)

On October 29, 2014, Sheen's home was sold at a trustee's sale. (3 CT 488  $\P$  49.)

#### D. This Lawsuit.

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