IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

KWANG K. SHEEN,

Case No. S258019

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A.,

Defendant and Respondent.

California Court of Appeal, Second District, Division Eight, No. B289003

Los Angeles Superior Court, No. BC631510 The Honorable Robert L. Hess, Judge

ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

David H. Fry (189276)

* Benjamin J. Horwich (249090)

MUNGER, TOLLES & OLSON LLP
560 Mission Street, 27th Floor
San Francisco, CA 94105-2907

Telephone: (415) 512-4000

Facsimile: (415) 512-4077

David.Fry@mto.com

Ben.Horwich@mto.com

Rachel G. Miller-Ziegler
(Pro Hac Vice)

MUNGER, TOLLES & OLSON LLP
1155 F Street N.W., 7th Floor

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

ARGUMENT

"[L]iability in negligence for purely economic losses...is the exception, not the rule." (SoCalGas, supra, 7 Cal.5th at p. 400.) Departing from that rule is unwarranted here for three reasons that are deeply rooted in both doctrine and policy. *First*, Wells Fargo and Sheen had a loan contract, and that contract should govern their rights and obligations. Courts have long been very reluctant to layer a general duty of care atop contract duties, because doing so would disrupt contracts' predictability and frustrate parties' expectations. Second, legislatures and regulators have been unusually attentive to the complex and technical mortgage-modification field. Their efforts, along with recognized common-law causes of action other than negligence, are calibrated to protect borrowers while remaining sensitive to competing policy concerns, such as ensuring access to mortgage lending. The general duty Sheen seeks would upset those fine balances. Third, considering the challenged conduct, that conduct's connection to Sheen's injury, and the consequences of recognizing a duty, the policy balance weighs decisively against imposing a duty.

- I. General Negligence Principles Do Not Govern Mortgage Modification Because the Relationship Between Borrower and Lender Is Contractual
 - A. Under the economic loss rule, a borrower's rights and obligations related to a loan are determined by contract, not tort
- 1. Parties to a contract are generally barred from pursuing a tort action for economic loss related to the subject matter of the contract. (See Rest.3d Torts, Liab. for Econ. Harm

§ 3 (*Restatement*) [subject to enumerated exceptions, "there is no liability in tort for economic loss caused by negligence in the performance or negotiation of a contract between the parties"].) This principle is one strand of the so-called "economic loss rule." (*See infra*, pp. 30-32.)

As a leading commentator explains, the rule recognizes that, when two parties enter into a contract, their contract "allocat[es] the relevant economic risks." (Dobbs, Law of Torts (2d ed. 2019) § 608 (Dobbs).) That contract, accordingly, determines whether and how liability follows when such risks are realized. Superimposing "tort liability for those risks would undermine the parties' contractual ordering of responsibilities." (*Ibid.*) Indeed, such tort liability strikes at the very premise of contract law—that parties generally should be free to reach voluntary agreements about their rights and obligations. Thus, the economic loss rule "protects the bargain the parties have made," allowing them "to make dependable allocations of financial risk without fear that tort law will be used to undo them later." (Restatement § 3, com. b.) More broadly, the rule "prevents the law of contract and the law of tort from dissolving one into the other." (Robinson Helicopter Co. v. Dana Corp. (2004) 34 Cal.4th 979, 988 [citation and alteration omitted]; Restatement § 3, com. b ["[T]he rule prevents the erosion of contract doctrines by the use of tort law to work around them."].)

This rule gives way only when a party violates a duty "independent" of the contract. (*Cf. Erlich v. Menezes* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 543, 551.) Contract law "protect[s] the interest in having

promises performed," while tort law "protect[s] the interest in freedom from various kinds of harm." (Freeman & Mills, Inc. v. Belcher Oil Co. (1995) 11 Cal.4th 85, 105 [citation omitted].)
What harm tort protects against is determined "based primarily on social policy," rather than the parties' agreement. (Ibid.) As explained below (see infra, pp. 26-30), simple negligence in negotiating the modification of a loan contract does not violate any such social policy.

2. Applying those principles here, a borrower can (if the facts warrant) pursue a contract claim, but not a negligence claim. When Sheen chose to borrow against his property by taking out the Second Loan, he made a contract with Wells Fargo. That contract "allocat[ed] the relevant economic risks" (Dobbs § 608) between the parties. In particular, Wells Fargo accepted the risk that Sheen might not repay the loan. Conversely, Sheen accepted the risk of foreclosure under that circumstance. Ultimately, Sheen's failure to perform led to foreclosure. Absent an independent duty—one that is both independent of the loan contract yet governs negotiations to modify it—longstanding doctrine cuts sharply against frustrating the parties' bargain by bringing tort law to bear here.

The same result would follow even if Wells Fargo had not been the original lender (as in the fact patterns of some other cases confronting the issue presented here). Loan agreements typically permit the originating lender to assign its beneficial interest or its servicing obligations to others (as Wells Fargo eventually did here (SAC ¶28)). Under those circumstances, the

successor would assume the relevant rights and obligations of the originating lender (see 1 Witkin, Summary of California Law (11th ed. 2019) Contracts § 763) or be treated as the agent of the original lender (see Civ. Code, § 2920.5, subd. (a); Daniels v. Select Portfolio Servicing, Inc. (2016) 246 Cal.App.4th 1150, 1172). Either way, the borrower could continue to enforce contractual promises, and the reason for prohibiting tort recovery remains: The borrower and lender had an opportunity to determine what risks each would accept under the loan agreement.

3. Sheen agrees that the economic loss rule "generally bars extra-contractual recovery of economic losses where there is privity of contract between the parties *and* the plaintiffs' losses arise solely out of a contractual breach." (Sheen Br. 52.) But he denies the rule's application here because "he does *not* claim" Wells Fargo's conduct "violated any contractual duty." (*Ibid.*)

Such an approach—heads-I-sue-in-contract, tails-I-sue-in-tort—would gut the economic loss rule. Sheen does not explain why a lender like Wells Fargo that has *fulfilled* its contractual promises should face greater liability than a lender that has *breached* them. The policy of the rule is to prevent tort's "interference with an allocation of risk made by the parties." (*Restatement* § 3, com. c.) That policy is served—regardless of whether the contract is performed or breached—by barring any "tort claim [that] creates a risk of interference with an allocation of risk made by the parties." (*Ibid.*)

Sheen's approach would be especially unworkable because contractual "silence may itself serve as an allocation" of risk. (Restatement § 3, com. c.) Parties bargain both by including obligations in their contract and by *omitting* them. As Dean Ward Farnsworth, the Reporter for the *Restatement*, explains, "[p]arties wrangle over integration clauses to make clear that their obligations are the ones stated in the contract and nothing else; the point of bothering about such matters becomes unclear if a disappointed party can later invoke an outside set of obligations that are imposed on the promisor and defined by the law of tort." (Farnsworth, The Economic Loss Rule (2016) 50 Val. U. L.Rev. 545, 553-554 (Farnsworth); see Applied Equip. Corp. v. Litton Saudi Arabia Ltd. (1994) 7 Cal.4th 503, 517 ["When two parties make a contract, ...it is appropriate to enforce only such obligations as each party voluntarily assumed, and to give him only such benefits as he expected to receive; this is the function of contract law." [citation and alteration omitted]].)

Sheen's claim plainly falls within "the contract's scope" (Restatement § 3, com. c). Parties entering a loan contract with definite promises have quite obviously omitted a commitment to scrap those promises and replace them with unspecified future terms. The relatively few contracts that contemplate renegotiations when certain contingencies arise are explicit; for example, a loan contract could expressly require a lender to evaluate modifications under specified circumstances and with a particular level of care. Such a promise could be breached, and could be enforced through a contract claim by a borrower against

a lender. But here, Wells Fargo undertook no such obligation, and Sheen cannot instead require compliance with that same obligation through tort.

For that reason, Sheen is mistaken in attempting to distinguish some of the cases cited below on the ground that they involved contractual duties (see Sheen Br. 58-59). As the Court of Appeal recognized, those cases support Wells Fargo because they correctly reason that any claims related to mortgage servicing necessarily fall within the scope of the loan contract. (See Wigod v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (7th Cir. 2012) 673 F.3d 547, 568 ["To the extent Wells Fargo had a duty to service [the] home loan responsibly and with competent personnel, that duty emerged solely out of its contractual obligations."]; Srok v. Bank of Am. (E.D.Wis. Nov. 6, 2015, No. 15-CV-239) 2015 WL 6828078, at *8 lexplaining that any "duty of care in accepting and processing [plaintiffs'] loan modification paperwork...emerged solely out of [the lender's] contractual obligations"]; Henderson v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (N.D.Tex. 2013) 974 F.Supp.2d 993, 1011 [holding that "negligence claim fails because [the] only alleged injury is the economic loss to the subject matter of the contract at issue"].)

In short, Sheen's proposed duty in negligence would impose new obligations on how Wells Fargo performed in its contractual relationship with Sheen—obligations that it did not undertake in contract. That duty would "affirmatively interfere" with that contract, making it "a less dependable instrument for settling commercial relations with finality." (Farnsworth, *supra*, at p. 553.) The economic loss rule thus bars that proposed duty.

B. Negligence in renegotiating loan terms does not violate any duty independent of the loan contract

Courts have, of course, recognized certain duties "independent" of contract that exist between parties to a contract. But a survey of the duties recognized by this Court reveals nothing remotely resembling a duty to negotiate or process a loan modification to avoid purely economic harm.

1. Tort law presumptively imposes a duty of care to avoid causing "traditionally compensable forms of injury—like physical harm to person or property." (SoCalGas, supra, 7 Cal.5th at p. 398.) Thus, when a "breach of contract also involves physical injury...the action will generally sound in tort." (Freeman, supra, 11 Cal.4th at p. 107.)

Sheen alleges no harm to person or property.

2. Tort law also imposes an obligation to refrain from intentional wrongful conduct. Thus, where a contract "breach is accompanied by a traditional common law tort, such as fraud or conversion" or "the means used to breach the contract are tortious, involving deceit or undue coercion," courts have recognized a tort claim despite the existence of a contract. (Robinson Helicopter, supra, 34 Cal.4th at p. 990.) "Focusing on intentional conduct gives substance to the proposition that a breach of contract is tortious only when some independent duty arising from tort law is violated." (Erlich, supra, 21 Cal.4th at p. 554.) By contrast, "[i]f every negligent breach of a contract g[ave] rise to tort damages the limitation would be meaningless, as

would the statutory distinction between tort and contract remedies." (*Ibid.*)

Sheen's negligence claim implicates no intentional conduct that would trigger this exception.

3. Courts have recognized certain "special relationships" that support a tort action for economic damages despite the existence of a contractual relationship. This Court has held that in certain *direct* relationships (often involving particular types of contracts), a "special relationship" exists such that public policy dictates heightened obligations regardless of the parties' agreement. (See, e.g., Erlich, supra, 21 Cal.4th at pp. 552-553 [discussing insurer-insured relationship]; Foley v. Interactive Data Corp. (1988) 47 Cal.3d 654, 682-685 [same].) Significantly, this Court has also used the term "special relationship" in a different context, to describe the relationship between a party to a transaction and a *third* party who brings suit as "an intended beneficiary of [the] particular transaction." (SoCalGas, supra, 7 Cal.5th at p. 400 [citing Biakanja].) But these two different uses come from two different contexts and are not interchangeable. (See Foley, supra, at pp. 684-685 [analyzing whether parties in direct relationship had "special relationship" without reference to Biakanja]; Erlich, supra, at pp. 552-553 [same].)

Sheen ignores cases like *Foley* and *Erlich*, instead invoking *Biakanja* to argue that he and Wells Fargo are in a "special relationship" justifying an independent duty. But that argument is wordplay: It conflates the two different meanings of "special relationship" noted above, when, under this Court's cases, only

the former has relevance for parties in a direct relationship.

Neither logic nor precedent supports transplanting the test from one area into the other merely because the Court has happened to use the same shorthand in both contexts.

No independent duty based on a special relationship exists here. The most familiar relationships justifying an independent duty are contracts for professional services, often with fiduciary characteristics: When a client hires a professional, such as an attorney, doctor, or accountant, the client's contract is no bar to a malpractice action. (See Restatement § 4; Neel v. Magana, Olney, Levy, Cathcart & Gelfand (1971) 6 Cal.3d 176, 181 ["legal malpractice generally constitutes both a tort and a breach of contract"].) Similarly, this Court has recognized that features of the relationship between insurer and insured favor allowing an insured to pursue a tort action where the insurer breaches the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. (See Foley, supra, 47 Cal.3d at p. 684.) But this was "a major departure from traditional principles of contract law." (Id. at 690.)

Wells Fargo and Sheen do not have a special relationship. To begin, the recognized examples of special relationships are distinguishable because in each, the premise of the tort is that there is *also* a contractual breach: In the insurance context, "a bad faith claim cannot be maintained unless policy benefits are due." (Waller v. Truck Ins. Exch., Inc. (1995) 11 Cal.4th 1, 36 [quoting this principle with approval in context of contract claim]; Foley, supra, 47 Cal.3d. at p. 684 [same for tort].) In the professional negligence context, an individual hiring a

professional to perform a task "invariably" contracts for performance with due care, and that failure is a breach. (See Farnsworth, supra, at p. 560-561; Restatement § 4, com. a.) Given the nature of such professional relationships, there is a "social interest" in recognizing that obligation (Farnsworth, supra, at p. 560), allowing it to be brought as either a contract or a tort claim. But the underlying obligation still coincides with the contract. Here, by contrast, Sheen admits that he got what he contracted for. Indeed, it was Sheen, not Wells Fargo, who breached the contract when he defaulted on his payments.

More generally, there is nothing "special" about the relationship between a lender and a borrower seeking to modify a debt. "No fiduciary duty exists between a borrower and lender in an arm's length transaction." (Ragland v. U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n (2012) 209 Cal.App.4th 182, 206.) Unlike a fiduciary, which must "subordinate its interests to act on behalf of and for the benefit of another," a bank "is entitled to pursue its own economic interests in a loan transaction." (Nymark v. Heart Fed. Sav. & Loan Assn. (1991) 231 Cal.App.3d 1089, 1093 n.1; see Downey v. Humphreys (1951) 102 Cal.App.2d 323, 332 ["A debt is not a trust and there is not a fiduciary relation between debtor and creditor as such."].) The banking system would seize up if creditors owed fiduciary-like tort duties to debtors seeking to modify their ordinary debts.

For this reason, a lender owes no extra-contractual duty of care when its "involvement in the loan transaction does not exceed the scope of its conventional role as a mere lender of money." (*Nymark*, *supra*, 231 Cal.App.3d at p. 1096; *see ibid*.

["Liability to a borrower for negligence arises only when the lender 'actively participates' in the financed enterprise 'beyond the domain of the usual money lender." [citation omitted]]; Wagner v. Benson (1980) 101 Cal.App.3d 27, 35.) Deciding whether to adjust the terms of an existing loan has long been one of the mortgagee's ordinary roles. (See Congressional Oversight Panel, December Oversight Report: A Review of Treasury's Foreclosure Prevention Programs (Dec. 2010) pp. 6-7.)

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